2001

Marie Bingham v. Kal Rasekh : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Appellate Court has jurisdiction over his appeal because the *summary judgment* order constituted a final judgment under section 78-2-2 of the Utah Code.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

ISSUE NO. 1. The court erred in granting summary judgment to Rasekh based upon a finding that there was no applicable statutorily created fiduciary duty that would apply to Rasekh based upon the facts of this case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THIS FIRST ISSUE ON APPEAL:

Summary judgment is granted only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this court views "the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below" and gives "no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness." *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989).

ISSUE NO. 2. The court erred in granting summary judgment to Rasekh based upon the finding that there was no evidence in the record that would support a finding of a confidential relationship.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THIS SECOND ISSUE ON APPEAL:

Summary judgment is granted only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this court views "the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below" and gives "no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness." *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989).

ISSUE NO. 3. The court erred in granting summary judgment to Rasekh based upon a finding that Bingham's own actions precluded Rasekh from selling the property and therefore an oral promise to sell the property if the purchase did not

work out cannot be enforced as a matter of law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THIS THIRD ISSUE ON APPEAL:

Summary judgment is granted only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this court views "the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below" and gives "no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness." Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989).

ISSUE NO. 4. The court erred in granting summary judgment to Rasekh based upon a finding that Rasekh did not have a duty to investigate and therefore there is no basis for a finding of negligent misrepresentations.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THIS FOURTH ISSUE ON APPEAL:

Summary judgment is granted only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this court views "the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below" and gives "no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness." Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989).

ISSUE NO. 5. The court erred in granting summary judgment to Rasekh based upon a finding that a promise to repurchase the center if it was unprofitable is unenforceable under the statute of frauds.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THIS FIFTH ISSUE ON APPEAL:

Summary judgment is granted only when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this court views "the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below" and gives "no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness." Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. The Plaintiff filed her amended complaint in May of 1988, claiming,

among other things, causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty and conflict of interest against Defendants Rasekh and Coldwell Bankers; negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract against Defendants Michael Drury and VRUtah; and causes of negligent misrepresentation and rescission of contract and restitution against the defendants Harvey C. and Lois R. Hirschi ("the Hirschis"). All of the defendants filed counterclaims.

2. All of the defendants filed summary judgment motions. After the trial court granted the motions, the Hirschis and defendants Michael Drury and VRUtah, Inc. settled their disputes with the Appellant.

3. On August 14, 2000, the trial court issued a Minute Entry granting the Motion for Summary Judgment of the Hirschis.

4. On October 10, 2000, the trial court issued its Memorandum Decision in which it granted Rasekh's, Michael Drury and VRUtah's Motions for Summary Judgment.

5. On October 31, 2000, the trial court entered a judgment in which the lower court dismissed all of Appellant's claims against the Hirschis.

6. On November 6, 2000, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal appealing the lower court's judgments.

7. On November 15, 2000, the Hirschis filed an objection to Appellant's Notice of Appeal on the basis there was no final judgment because the lower court had not determined the amount of attorneys' fees to be awarded in connection with the Hirschis judgment.

8. On December 8, 2000, the Utah Supreme Court entered its Order dismissing the Appeal.

9. On June 4, 2001, the lower court entered its Order dismissing the claims

against Drury and VRUtah, Inc.

10. On June 19, 2001, the lower court entered its Order dismissing Appellant's claims against the Hirschis and the Hirschis counterclaims against Appellant, each party to bear their own costs and attorneys fees.

11. On July 20, 2001, Appellant filed the instant Notice of Appeal challenging the lower court's judgment in favor of defendant Kal Rasech.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Preliminary Statement:

The Appellant's Statement of Facts, relevant to the issues presented for review, are the same Facts as found in Appellant's "Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant Kal Rasekh's Motion for Summary Judgment," as filed in the Court below. See App Exh. pp 172-181. For the Court's convenience, immediately following the number for each of Appellant's Fact Statements, are ellipses () within the ellipse is found the corresponding numbered contested facts as found in the paragraph or paragraphs for the Statement of Fact as found in Appellee's two Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment as filed below. See App Exh. pp. 149-157. The references in support of each Fact Statement are to the pages in Appellants Addendum, filed in support of Appellant's Brief on Appeal i.e. App Exh p " " .

B. Statement of Facts:

1.(2) The Appellant, Marie Bingham, at the time she purchased the Hirschi Center was an unsophisticated person who had little if any comprehension of the magnitude of the transaction in which she was induced to enter in by the Defendant Kal Rasekh. (App Ex pg. 18 (dep pp. 65-66); App Ex pg. 20 (dep pp. 77-78); App Ex pg. 40. (dep pp 314-316), App Exh. p. 216.

2. (2) Mrs. Bingham was a divorcee. App Ex. pg 49, 216 (dep pg. 423). Her family consisted of nine children. App Ex pg. 40 (dep p. 314). Her working experience had been that of a sales clerk and substitute teacher. (App Ex. pp 13-14(dep pp. 9-15). Her education beyond high school had consisted of two years of part time schooling to qualify for entrance into a nursing curriculum. (App Ex p. 13 (dep p. 11); App Exh. p. 38a - 38b (dep pp. 292-293).

3. (2, 3) Mr. Rasekh ingratiated himself into Mrs. Bingham's family, learned of her financial circumstances and became her financial advisor. App Exh. pp. 39-40, (dep. p 305-307, 316), App Exh. pp. 211-212. Mr. Rasekh's ingratiation was very clever often referring to her as his "American mom." App Exh pp. 58 (dep pp. 63-64); App. Exh p. 38 (dep p. 254); App Exh pp. 207-209.

4.(2) This relationship of trust and confidence is evidenced by the fact that Mr. Rasekh asked Mrs. Bingham if he could marry either her daughter Jennifer or Brittany as a prerequisite to obtaining U.S. Citizenship. App Exh pp. 54-56, (dep pp. 48-55, 58), App Exh. pp. 208-209.

5.(2) As a result of the relationship he cultivated, Mrs. Bingham trusted him with the care of her daughter Brittany whom Mr. Rasekh took to Egypt to attend the wedding of his sister. (App Exh. pp. 57, (dep pp. 59).

6. (2,3) Mrs. Bingham relied on Mr. Rasekh to make her business decisions. App. Exh pp. 46, (dep pp. 379); App Exh p. 48 (dep pp. 417), App pp. 208-209, 211-212.

7.(2) In July of 1994, Rasekh contacted Bingham and told her he had just left the Hirschi Center, a day care business, and that it was a perfect investment for her. He told her that he had exempted his father from the listing agreement so that Bingham and his sister could purchase and operate the day care. He told her he

would meet her at his office because it would have to be tied up fast. App Exh. pp. 196 (Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 14-16)

8.(2) When Bingham first learned of the \$900,000 price she was overwhelmed and told Rasekh there was no way she could be involved. He told Bingham there was no risk that he had thoroughly investigated the business and property and if Bingham would go in business with his sister and operate the day care there was enough income to support the both of them. App Exh. pp. 196 (Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 14-17)

9. (2,22) He presented Bingham with a document he had prepared which she did not read and which he said was necessary to tie up the property. Bingham was at first skeptical, but, Rasekh had her sign the document and give him \$5,000 to hold the property until his sister could come. At the time Rasekh told Bingham he would later negotiate the actual price and figure out the business relationship between Bingham and his sister. App Exh. pp. 196-197 (Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 14-17)

10.(2) At this time Rasekh told Bingham that if he were not able to negotiate a better price that Bingham would get her \$5,000 back. App Exh. pp. 196-197(Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 14-17)

11.(2) Bingham signed the document Rasekh prepared without reading it because she fully trusted Rasekh because of their confidential relationship and the believe he instilled in her that he would protect her and was looking out for her best interests. App Exh. pp. 196 (Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 14-17)

12. Later he came to Bingham's home and discussed the need to sell her home so as to come up with her share of the money to purchase the Hirschi Center. Rasekh told Bingham his sister was coming from Egypt soon and he would start to look for a buyer for her house. App Exh. pp. 197 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 18)

13.(3) During this time Rasekh presented Bingham with several additional offers and counter offers which he was negotiating she believed for both she and his sister.

14.(5) Shortly thereafter Rasekh told Bingham his sister was not coming and would not be participating in the purchase. At this time Bingham told Rasekh there was no possible way she could be involved because she knew nothing about operating a day care let alone any other kind of business. App Exh. pp. 196 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 19)

15.(2,3,5) At this time Rasekh, put increased pressure on Bingham to proceed with the purchase by assuring me that he had investigated the business and there was nothing that could go wrong. He told Bingham that she could walk into the Hirschi's shoes and would need no further capital. App Exh. p. 30-32, (dep p. 187-190, 192, 196); App Exh p. 44, 45, (dep p. 349, 356.).

16.(6) At this time Bingham consulted her brother David Weston who told her she should not purchase the Center because she was not qualified and not until she determined that the business was profitable and would not require any money beyond the purchase price. App Exh. pp. 197-198 (Bingham Aff. ¶ ¶ 21)

17. Bingham told Rasekh what her brother had said and at this time he told her **"Marie there is no risk, if it doesn't work out I will either buy it from you or sell it for you."** Besides, he said, "why would you not trust my advice over that of your brother or daughters, are they as successful as I am, look at my success Marie, trust me there is no risk and I will not let you down." App Exh. pp. 198-203; 41-42 (dep pp 317-323; also App Exh pp. 35-37 (dep pp 237,244,247).

18.(6) Rasekh told her the Hirschi's had provided him with all of the financial information about the business and that the day care center and the wedding

receptions held there had supported two families for many years. He arranged for her to talk to the Hirschi's about the profitability of their business. The Hirschi's then provided her with financial statements. App Exh. pp. 198 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 23)

19.(6) She did not know how to read a financial statement so Bingham asked her friend Stan to look at the financial statements and He told her the statements were just break even or showed a loss. App Exh. pp. 198 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 23)

20.(6) When she confronted both Rasekh and Mr. Hirschi, they both told her the financial statements were not accurate because the Hirschi' had commingled the living expenses of two families with the operating expenses of the business and that if she subtracted out the living expenses the statements would show a good profit. App Exh. pp. 198 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 24)

21.(7) Rasekh then introduced her to Mr. Tilbey, their accountant, to assure her that he would continue to do the Center's accounting after she took over. Mr. Tilbey told her he could not extract the personal family living expenses from the operating expenses. She was again concerned because of what her brother David had told her. When she expressed her concerns to Rasekh he again persuaded her by telling her that he had analyzed the financial statements and if the business could support two families it could assuredly support one. App Exh. pp. 198-199 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 25)

22.(7) At this time, Rasekh again reassured her, "Marie there is no risk, just trust me, if anything goes wrong I will get you out." App Exh. pp. 198-199 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 25)

23.(8,9) Rasekh then traveled to Egypt and while he was gone Bingham went to the Hirschi Center on her own and came away with the feeling that something was just not right. When Rasekh returned Bingham told him she could not go

through with buying the Center. Rasekh got very upset and intimidating and again accused her of not trusting him and that she was harming the Hirschi's. He made her feel terrible and she then told him that in the very beginning he had at least promised a lower price. App Exh. pp. 199 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 27)

24.(9) Rasekh then met with the Hirschi's alone and then later included Bingham in the discussions. Rasekh told her the Hirschi's had agreed to reduce the price and to delay the monthly payments to assure her success. At this time Bingham looked to Mrs. Hirschi, for reassurance and asked her "knowing my lack of experience do you think I could really handle this and could I really do this." App Exh. pp. 199 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 28)

25.(9) Mrs. Hirschi's response led her to believe that the Hirschi Center day care business would support her family without the requirement for any money beyond the down payment. App Exh pp. 21-22, (dep pp. 92,93); see also App Exh. p. 60, (dep p. 102).

26.(9) Rasekh also told Bingham that the Hirschi's had agreed that their daughter, would continue to manage the Center and would train Bingham for six months. He also told Bingham that that all of the trained staff would continue and that all of the day to day lesson and activity programs for the children were fully developed and available for her use. He said "Marie all you have to do is work hard and the Center will take care of all your needs." App Exh. pp. 197 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 20)

27.(10, 6) Because of Rasekh's assurance, among others, that her investment was completely safe because if anything went wrong he would either purchase the property from her or sell it for her such that she would not suffer any financial loss, in early October, 1994, Bingham purchased the Hirschi Center. App Exh pp. 41,42

(dep pp. 318, 322); App Exh p. 25 (dep p. 122). Prior to October of 1994, she had never worked in a day care center or operated a day care center. App Exh. pp. 199-200 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 29)

28.(10,6) At the time of the Hirschi Center purchase her sole assets consisted of time certificates of deposit accumulated from some income savings (App Ex p 47-49, ((dep pp. 389-391, 418-421)) and some limited capital received from her father and the equity in her home. App Ex. pg. 20 (dep pp. 77-79); App Ex. pg 15 (dep pp. 49-51).

29.(10,6) The \$181,000, Mr Rasekh had Ms. Bingham pay in down payment depleted all of her assets and left her with no operating or emergency capital. (App Exh. p. 21, (dep p. 89); App Exh p. 33, (dep pp. 201-202).

30.(10,6) At the time of closing Mr. Rasekh did require of Mrs. Bingham that she would have to pay more money than her \$181,000 she had for the down payment, contrary to his prior representations, by surprising her with a \$19,000 note the need for which prior thereto she was unaware. App Exh. p. 42 (dep pp. 323-324); App Exh. p. 200 Bingham Aff. ¶ ¶ 30-31)

31.(11,7) Following closing she soon discovered that Mr. Rasekh had misrepresented the Hirschi Center (App Exh. p. 24, ((dep p. 117)); App Exh. p. 31, ((dep pp. 189-190)), and in order to stay in business she would have to meet costly permitting and safety requirements for which she was unprepared with no means to meet these costs. App Exh. pp. 27-28 (dep pp. 147-152); App Exh p. 43 (dep p. 336); App Exh. pp. 200-201 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 32),

32.(11,7) Following closing It also became apparent to her that the amount of income being received from child day care was insufficient to meet the licensing requirements, mortgage payments and operating expenses and she would be

operating at a loss. App Exh. p. 33, (dep pp. 201-202); App Exh. p. 43 (dep pp. 333-335); App Exh. p 201 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 33).

33.(11,7) The last minute \$19,000 note and the Hirschi Center misrepresentations caused her to believe that she could no longer trust Rasekh. A friend, she hired to repair the smoke detectors and to install exit signs advised her to immediately sell the Hirschi Center and recover her savings. App Exh. pp. 201 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 33-34)

34.(11,12,7,8,) As a result of her friends advice and certain misrepresentations as made by Mr. Michael Drury, a representative of VR Utah, business brokers, she entered into an agreement with Mr. Michael Drury and VR Utah, to sell the Hirschi Center within three months which failed and she made a demand upon VR Utah to release her from the listing agreement. App Exh. pp. 107-113, 33-34 (dep p. 201, 207); App Exh. pp. 201 (Bingham Aff. ¶ ¶ 34-36, 39-42); App Exh. pp. 2-3, 12, 49(b), 34 (dep pp. 206-208, 449-450, 462); App Exh. 50.

35.(20,21) In desperation, the Appellant contacted Rasekh and told him she would not be able to make the monthly payments then due. She insisted he make good his promise to sell the property or buy her out. Defendant Rasekh told the Appellant that he would do nothing so long as the property was listed with VRUtah Business Brokers. App Exh. pp. 203(Bingham Aff. ¶ ¶ 43-44); App Exh. p 35, (dep pp. 237-238).

36.(14-16,19, 11,13) On or about March 2, 1995, Mr. Randall Roberts, a neighbor to the Hirschi's, had Steve Tate of Consolidated Realty Group present an offer to purchase the Hirschi property. (App. Exh. pg 62; App Exh. pp. 201 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 45).

37.(14-16, 11-13,16) Mr. Roberts was never screened as a potential buyer.

(App Exh p. 11) The only way Mr. Roberts could complete a purchase was through the qualification of a prospectus with the governmental agencies regulating securities offerings in the hope of attracting investors. (App Exh. pg. 11; App Exh. pp. 203-204 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 46). Mr. Roberts had no means available to him at the time to purchase the property. App Exh. pp. 203-204, (Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 45-46, 50); App Exh. pp. 212-213, (Weston Aff. ¶¶ 9-10); App. Exh pp. 4-5, 11, 62 and Roberts prospectus App Exh. pp. 124-145)

38. (14-16,19,11-13) Lacking the sophistication to evaluate Mr. Roberts offers, Mrs. Bingham engaged her brother as her agent. App Exh. pg 49(c) Mr. Weston then attended a meeting conducted by Mr. Roberts in Mr. Drury's office. After reviewing Mr. Roberts prospectus, (App Exh. pp 124-145) her brother advised her that Mr. Roberts did not have the means to fund his offer. App Exh. pp. 212-214, (Weston Aff. ¶¶ 9-10,13); App Exh. pp. 203-204 (Bingham Aff. ¶¶ 45-46)

39. (20-22, 18-19) The Appellant finally obtained a release from VR Utah in June 1995. She then contacted Rasekh and told him VRUtah Brokers had released and that he need to either buy the Hirschi Center or sell it immediately as I she would lose her life's savings. App Exh. pp. 205 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 52-53)

40. (20-22, 18-19) Mr. Rasekh did nothing and she in fact lost her savings as a result of the Hirschi's foreclosure. App Exh. pp. 205 (Bingham Aff. ¶ 52-53)

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