2001

Marie Bingham v. Randal Roberts, Michael Drury,
VRUtah, Inc., a Utah Corporation, Kal Rasekh, an
individual, Coldwell Banker Premier Reality, INC.,
a Utah corporation, Harvey C. Hirschi and lois R.
Hirschi, individuals : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

imposition of a constructive trust would be inapplicable. The court should affirm the trial court's determination that the statute of frauds prevents enforcement of any alleged oral agreement to purchase the Hirschi Center.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT BINGHAM'S ACTIONS PREVENTING RASEKH FROM SELLING THE HIRSCHI CENTER PRECLUDE HER CLAIM FOR BREACH OF ANY ALLEGED ORAL PROMISE TO SELL THE HIRSCHI CENTER IN THE EVENT IT WAS UNPROFITABLE.

In the Appellant's Brief, Bingham argues that Rasekh could have attempted to sell the Hirschi Center while it was listed with VRUtah. Further, Bingham makes the conclusory and unsupported assertion that "VR[Utah] released their [sic] listing in sufficient time to sell the Hirschi Center before it was foreclosed." Appellant's Brief at 21. Bingham also makes the conclusory assertion that "Rasekh made no effort to sell the property either while it was listed or after the listing was released" Id.

In the Memorandum Decision, the trial court stated:

Finally, the [appellant] asserts that defendant Rasekh made an oral promise to her that he would sell the property if the purchase she was making did not work out. While that oral promise, the existence of which is disputed by defendant Rasekh, would create a question of fact that would prohibit Summary Judgment, the [appellant's] own actions prohibiting defendant Rasekh from attempting to resell the property after the [appellant] determined that the purchase was inappropriate, precludes her claim as matter of law. Immediately after purchasing the property, the [appellant] granted an exclusive listing for one year to Drury and VR Utah. Under that listing agreement, defendant Rasekh could not have undertaken to sell the property, assuming for the sake of this Motion that there was an oral promise to do so. [Appellant's] own actions have prohibited defendant Rasekh from complying with the oral promise that the [appellant] claims existed.

R. at 1158.

Bingham's arguments fail. A contracting party may not by willful act or omission make it impossible or more difficult for the other party to perform and then take advantage of the other party's breach. See Cahoon v. Cahoon, 641 P.2d 140, 144 (Utah 1982); Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1979). "It has been held for generations that a party to a contract may not interfere with performance by the party to be charged and still enforce the letter of the contract." Roberts v. United States, Great American Ins. Co., 357 F.2d 938, 945 (Cl. Ct. 1966) (quoting Bateson-Stolte, Inc. v. United States, 172 F. Supp. 454, 458 (Cl. Ct. 1959)). "Interference need not make performance impossible or impracticable in the substantive legal sense in order for it to provide an excuse for nonperformance." Murray E. Gildersleeve Logging Co. v. Northern Timber Corp., 670 P.2d 372, 376 (Alaska 1983).

Bingham admits that after the closing on her purchase of the Hirschi Center she believed she could no longer trust Rasekh and "[a]s a result of her friends['] advice she entered into an agreement with Defendant Michael Drury and VRUtah to sell the Hirschi Center" Appellant's Brief, Facts Section ¶¶ 33-34. It is undisputed that she signed a one-year exclusive listing agreement with VRUtah, as the trial court stated in the Memorandum Decision. R. at 723, ln. 1 to 724, ln. 16; at 834-35. The listing price was \$1,000,000, or \$200,000 more than Bingham paid for the Hirschi Center. R. at 834-35. By an addendum dated March 8 1995, Bingham agreed that the listing price would be reduced to \$900,000. R. at 837.

In the Appellant's Brief, Bingham's unsupported conclusion that "VR [Utah] released their listing in sufficient time to sell the Hirschi Center before it was foreclosed" is apparently based on Bingham's factual assertion number 39 in the Appellant's Brief that Bingham "finally obtained a release from VRUtah in June 1995. She then contacted Rasekh and told him VRUtah Brokers had released and that he need [sic] to either buy the Hirschi Center or sell it immediately as I she [sic] would lose her life's savings." Appellant's Brief, Statement of Facts ¶ 39. Bingham admits that Rasekh told her he could not list and sell the Hirschi Center while it was subject to VRUtah's exclusive listing. Appellant's Brief, Statement of Facts ¶ 35. What Bingham fails to disclose is the undisputed fact that, prior to the date of the release signed by VRUtah (see Appellant's Brief, Statement of Facts ¶ 39), Bingham had signed a Commercial Lease as well as an Option to Purchase Property, both dated June 1, 1995, to lease the Hirschi Center to Roberts for a 30-month term, with an option for Roberts to purchase the Hirschi Center. R. at 887-908.

Bingham does not dispute that she chose not to pay her tax obligations, alarm monitoring, and other obligations associated with the Hirschi Center after she listed it for sale with VRUtah. See R. at 727, ln. 8-21; R. at 728, ln. 2-11. It is undisputed that Bingham received notices of default from the successor trustee in connection with the Deed of Trust that Bingham gave to the Hirschis to secure her payment obligation for a portion of the purchase price dated April 5, April 28, May 18, and July 10, 1995. R. at 877-78; at 880-81; at 883-85; at 910-11. Bingham sent her own notice of default to

Roberts dated August 16, 1995 declaring a default in Roberts lease obligations. R. at 768, ln. 1-25.

Then, almost one year from Bingham's purchase of the Hirschi Center and after the Hirschis had commenced foreclosure, Bingham finally entered into a one-month listing agreement with Rasekh in September 1995. R. at 913-14. Bingham then entered into a four-month listing agreement with Rasekh on October 27, 1995, just weeks before the foreclosure sale scheduled to occur on November 14, 1995. R. at 916-17. Bingham asserts without any support that Rasekh made no effort to sell the Hirschi Center after the listing with VRUtah was released, but Bingham has no personal knowledge of what Rasekh did or did not do.

Bingham made it virtually impossible for Rasekh to sell the Hirschi Center by listing it with VRUtah on a one-year exclusive listing, while failing to make her required payments, including her payment obligations to the Hirschis. The listing agreement with VRUtah unambiguously appointed VRUtah as Bingham's exclusive sales agent with regard to the Hirschi Center for the one-year term of the agreement. R. at 834-35; at 1158; cf. Gump & Ayers Real Estate, Inc. v. Domcoy Investors V, 733 P.2d 128, 130 (Utah 1987) (comparable provision). During the term of the agreement, Rasekh could not act as Bingham's sales agent. Insofar as Rasekh did promise to sell the Hirschi Center for Bingham in the event it was not profitable, Bingham in effect waived the right to enforce that promise by choosing instead to enter into a one-year exclusive listing agreement with VRUtah in October 1994 for sale of the Hirschi Center for \$1,000,000

(\$200,000 more than Bingham paid for the Hirschi Center) approximately two weeks after she purchased it.

Moreover, Bingham made it virtually impossible for Rasekh to sell the Hirschi Center when Bingham entered into a lease with Roberts with an option to purchase dated June 1, 1995, and allowing the Hirschi Center to go into foreclosure. It is undisputed that Bingham entered into a listing agreement with Rasekh only two months before the foreclosure sale by the Hirschis. R. at 769, ln. 19 to 770, ln. 6; at 798, ln. 25 to 800, ln. 20; at 913-14; at 449.

Further, the Court may affirm the grant of summary judgment by the trial court with regard to the alleged oral promise to sell the Hirschi Center in the event it was unprofitable on alternate grounds. Bill Nay & Sons Excavating v. Neeley Constr. Co., 677 P.2d 1120, 1123 (Utah 1984) (Appellate court may “affirm a trial court’s decision whenever [it] can do so on a proper ground, even though it was not the ground on which the trial court relied in its ruling.”). The alleged promise to resell the Hirschi Center in the event it was not profitable is one of two alleged alternative performances, one of which – the alleged oral promise to purchase the Hirschi Center – would be within the statute of frauds. Although there is a split of authority, certain courts hold that, in such a case, neither alternative performance is enforceable. Quirk v. Bank of Commerce & Trust Co., 244 F. 682, 687 (6th Cir. 1917); 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statute of Frauds § 526 (1974); Annotation, Validity and effect of oral agreement in alternative, one of the alternatives being within the Statute of Frauds, 13 A.L.R. 271 (1921). The reason for this rule is that, if the contract could be enforced for that part not within the statute of frauds,

it would be based on noncompliance with an invalid portion of the contract. 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statute of Frauds, § 526 (1974); see also Quirk, 244 F. at 687. Accordingly, Bingham is barred by the Utah statute of frauds from pursuing her alleged damages claim based on Rasekh's failure to sell the Hirschi Center for her in alleged violation of the alleged oral promise.

On either basis, the trial court correctly determined that Bingham could not recover damages against Rasekh for any alleged oral promise to sell the Hirschi Center for her in the event it was unprofitable, and granted summary judgment in favor of Rasekh on this claim.

V. THE TRIAL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT RASEKH HAD NO DUTY TO INVESTIGATE THE TRUTH OR FALSITY OF THE ALLEGED MISREPRESENTATIONS REGARDING THE HIRSCHI CENTER, AND BINGHAM DID NOT RELY ON THOSE REPRESENTATIONS, BUT CONDUCTED HER OWN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATIONS.

In the Appellant's Brief, Bingham argues that she was entitled to rely on Rasekh's alleged negligent misrepresentations without conducting any independent investigation because of the alleged confidential or fiduciary relationship between Bingham and Rasekh. Appellant's Brief at 22. Bingham further argues that the claim for negligent misrepresentation should survive because Rasekh did not properly investigate the accuracy of representations he passed on about the Hirschi Center. Id. at 23.

In the Memorandum Decision, the trial court ruled:

Defendant Rasekh had no legal duty to investigate, as real estate agent in this matter, for both the seller and [appellant]/buyer. The fact that he did not know of the claimed falsities of the Hirschi's (previously dismissed) is undisputed. As previously indicated, Utah case law clearly

indicates that real estate agents are not expected and not required to investigate properties they are selling.

R. at 1158-59.

It is undisputed that there is no evidence that Rasekh knew of the alleged falsity of any of the alleged misrepresentations regarding the condition or viability of the Hirschi Center. R. at 736, ln. 9-15; at 737, ln. 22 to 738, ln. 1; at 739, ln. 1-4; at 740, ln. 23 to 741, ln. 1; at 742, ln. 6-9; at 743, ln. 7-10; at 744, ln. 15-18; at 745, ln. 16-19; at 746, ln. 11-14; at 747, ln. 18-21; at 748, ln. 15-18; at 749, ln. 14-17; at 750, ln. 8-11; at 751, ln. 3-6. Imposing the burden on a real estate agent to thoroughly investigate every possible aspect of properties for sale at the peril of potential liability would increase the risk of selling real estate, making real estate agents insurers for purchasers. As this Court has explained,

[r]eal estate agents are not ... home inspectors and should not be required to thoroughly investigate each home they have on the market to discover latent defects. The responsibility to observe patent, and any discoverable latent, defects falls on the buyer of the home and is usually accomplished by hiring a knowledgeable home inspector to scrutinize the home before finalizing a sale. ... [T]he mere fact that the real estate agent has a duty to disclose known defects to potential purchasers does not mean that the agent is liable for all subsequent problems that come to light. ... Only when the purchaser can establish that the agent had both the duty to disclose and knowledge of the defects is recovery appropriate.

Schafir v. Harrigan, 879 P.2d 1384, 1390 (Utah Ct. App. 1994); see also Mitchell v. Christensen, 2001 UT 80 ¶ 11, 31 P.3d 572 (caveat emptor applies if a defect in real property is discoverable by reasonable care).

Beyond the fact that Rasekh had no duty to investigate the condition or viability of the Hirschi Center, Bingham's arguments are incorrect for two reasons. First, as discussed above, there was no fiduciary or confidential relationship between Bingham and Rasekh with regard to Bingham's purchase of the Hirschi Center to the extent that Bingham would have the court define the same. Second, the trial court also found that Bingham did not rely or could not reasonably have relied on any alleged misrepresentations by Rasekh because she did conduct independent investigations. R. at 1192; Addendum, Findings and Conclusions at 10.

In Jardine v. Brunswick Corp, 423 P.2d 659, 662 (Utah 1967), the Utah Supreme Court defined the tort of negligent misrepresentation. Among the elements defined by the Jardine court which a plaintiff is required to prove in a negligent misrepresentation action, a plaintiff must prove that the person making the allegedly negligent misrepresentation was in a superior position to know the material facts, and that the plaintiff reasonably relied on those allegedly negligent misrepresentations. Id. The Jardine court stated that

one who complains of being injured by such a false representation [a negligent misrepresentation] cannot heedlessly accept as true whatever is told him, but has the duty of exercising such degree of care to protect his own interests as would be exercised by an ordinary, reasonable and prudent person under the circumstances; and if he fails to do so, is precluded from holding someone else to account for the consequences of his own neglect.

Id. at 662-63.

Although the Jardine court referred to the failure to fulfill this duty as “somewhat analogous to contributory negligence ...,” id. at 662, later courts have referred to this duty as part of the element of reasonable reliance. Maack v. Resource Design & Constr., Inc., 875 P.2d 570, 577 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (“Therefore, in order to successfully bring an action for negligent misrepresentation, the Maacks must demonstrate that they at least took reasonable steps to ascertain the truth of Kesselring’s representation that there was a one-year builder’s warranty, or, worded differently, that the Maacks’ reliance on Kesselring’s statement without some further inquiry was reasonable under the circumstances.”).

In this case, Bingham could not have reasonably relied on any alleged misrepresentations of Rasekh, as a matter of law, because of the information she received regarding the Hirschi Center. See Gold Standard, Inc. v. Getty Oil Co., 915 P.2d 1060, 1067 (Utah 1996). Bingham performed several independent investigations. It is undisputed that she visited the Hirschi Center on numerous occasions, she was given financial statements regarding the business, she spoke with others regarding the financial statements including her boyfriend, and she discussed the profitability of the business with the Hirschis and their accountant whom she later retained. In light of Bingham’s access to the financial information regarding the Hirschi Center and to the Hirschis’ accountant, Bingham was in a superior position to Rasekh to learn about the profitability of the business and her ability to make it a success. Further, with the information in her possession, Bingham could not have reasonably relied on any alleged misrepresentations of Rasekh as a matter of law. With the information she had, Bingham made the decision

to purchase the Hirschi Center, she put it up for sale within two weeks after the closing of her purchase for \$1,000,000, a mere \$200,000 more than she paid for it, and ultimately she lost it through foreclosure.

In this case, Bingham did independent investigations, and had facts that put her on notice of the truth. She could not have reasonably relied on any alleged negligent misrepresentations as a matter of law, as found by the trial court. Gold Standard, 915 P.2d at 1067 (no reasonable reliance because of correspondence which contradicted alleged representations); Mikkelson v. Quail Valley Realty, 641 P.2d 124, 126 (Utah 1982) (plaintiff could not have reasonably relied on erroneous property dimensions having inspected the property and having acknowledged receipt of FHA appraisal showing correct dimensions); Jardine, 423 P.2d at 662 (no reasonable reliance after defendant's representative declined to make stronger commitment, and cautioned plaintiff to protect himself).

On either basis, the Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment on Bingham's Third Cause of Action for negligent misrepresentation.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ADDRESS RASEKH'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT REGARDING MITIGATION, AND THE ISSUES ARE NOT RIPE FOR APPEAL.

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